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Practitioners who discover that a client has submitted false invoices to the IRS could find
themselves facing professional or legal consequences if they don’t proceed carefully in
disentangling themselves from the situation.

A practitioner in that predicament should find a way to withdraw from the case, speakers across
two different panels at the University of San Diego School of Law and RJS Law Tax
Controversy Institute in San Diego agreed July 19. But there was some disagreement on
whether the practitioner should inform the IRS of the false documents.

Speaking during an ethics panel at the conference, Caroline D. Ciraolo of Kostelanetz & Fink
LLP described a hypothetical scenario in which a client creates false invoices during an audit
and the practitioner submits those invoices to the IRS, without knowledge of their falsity. The
client later panics and admits to the practitioner that the invoices were false.

Venar Ayar of Ayar Law said that a practitioner in that situation should first end representation
of the taxpayer. “You were a tool in their fraud, and to continue to represent them would be to
continue to further the fraudulent acts,” he said.

But the duty of confidentiality means the practitioner shouldn’t advise the IRS of the false
invoices, Ayar added. “If you do tell the IRS why you’ve withdrawn, then you’re almost certainly
going to face a malpractice claim or a state bar complaint or some other complaint from the
client because that is confidential information,” he warned.

Criminal Sanctions

However, Frank Agostino of Agostino & Associates PC cautioned from the audience that
criminal offenses could come into play if a practitioner fails to report the false documents to the 
IRS, including aiding and abetting under 18 U.S.C. 2 and misprision of felony under 18 U.S.C.
4.

Ciraolo, former head of the Justice Department Tax Division, responded that she’s never taken
the position that a practitioner must “tell on” his client immediately when such an issue is
discovered. She said that as a practitioner in that situation, she’s simply withdrawn from
representing the client.

Speaking at a later panel on criminal tax procedures, Marvin J. Garbis, a retired judge of the 
U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland, agreed with Ayar that it’s important for
practitioners to act quickly to limit any potential criminal exposure.
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“Professional licenses are going to be lost, they’re going to be prosecuted, some people are
gonna go to jail,” Garbis said. “Your very, very first objective is to make sure that when that tally
is done, you are not included in the people” subject to criminal sanctions.

Steven Toscher of Hochman Salkin Toscher & Perez PC echoed that concern. “The biggest
danger . . . is if the prosecutors or the IRS criminal investigators think you, as the professional,
were involved,” he said. “They really don’t know. It’s going to depend on your reputation, who
you are, because unfortunately there are professionals who would be complicit in that.”

Obstructing Internal Revenue Laws

Speaking during both panels, Martin Schainbaum of RJS Law said that in addition to
withdrawing, he thinks the practitioner has an obligation to tell the IRS that the documents are
erroneous and cannot be relied on. He suggested that failing to do so could violate section 7212
, which governs the penalties for attempting to interfere with the enforcement of internal revenue
laws.

“I don’t think you can go forward, but I don’t think you can remain silent if you find out that the
documents that you provided are false,” Schainbaum said.

Ayar disagreed, noting that section 7212 requires that there be a corrupt intent to any action
taken. “If at the time you turned over the records, you didn’t know and then after you found out,
you immediately ceased representation, I don’t see where the argument is that you corruptly
endeavored to obstruct an internal revenue law,” he said.

What About Enrolled Agents?

An audience member asked whether an enrolled agent, who is not obligated by attorney-client
privilege, should advise the IRS of the false invoices.

“I don’t think any practitioner should advise the IRS. Even as an enrolled agent, you still have a
duty of confidentiality to your client,” Ayar responded.

Ciraolo and Jonathan T. Amitrano of the Law Offices of A. Lavar Taylor both likewise pointed to
the practitioner-client privilege under section 7525, which applies to enrolled agents.

Ultimately, Ciraolo said, the best course of action for any practitioners who find themselves in
this situation is to consult with counsel.

“As long as you don’t have the corrupt intent, and you didn’t fraudulently or willfully participate
in the crime, you’re probably going to be OK,” Ciraolo said. “But consult with counsel in terms of
next steps. And that way, whatever you do, you’ll do it on the advice of counsel.”
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